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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Miller-Kite House stands on Elk Run near the Shenandoah River at the eastern edge
of Elkton in Rockingham County. Formerly a rural dwelling, it is now part of a residential
street. The house was built in 1827 for Henry Miller, Jr. It is a two-story, L-shaped
structure, five bays long, built of brick laid in Flemish bond with a molded ovolo water
table and a five-course molded brick cornice (now covered by a Victorian box cornice),
Plain jack arches are used over the windows which have 9/6 sash and louvred blinds., The
entrance is embellished with a frontispiece doorway consisting of symmetrically molded
pilasters supporting tall entablature blocks with vertical elliptical paterae. Gouged
stars enrich the architrave band, and the tall frieze is occupied by a semicircular fan-
light with a central keystone and recessed-panel intrados. The whole is surmounted by an
open pediment enriched with a rope molding. The gable roof was altered slightly in the
early 20th century; a central cross gable was added, and the eaves were extended and
decorated with sawnwork filigree, The roof is covered with standing-seam sheet metal and
crowned with seuni-exterior end chimneys.

In 1848 the L-shaped ground plan of the house was expanded to a rectangle with the
addition of a two-story frame lean-to in the reentrant angle. This plain structure 1s
covered with weatherboards and has 6/6 sash and a “rock”™ (rubble limestone) chimmey witch a
brick stack.

The plan of the Miller-Kite House is a common Shenandoah Valley variant of the
traditional "I-house" plan. There is a single room on either side of the passage in the
front section and a single room in the original ell. The main stair is located in the
front passage, while an auxiliary stair in the ell leads to a second-floor chamber which
originally had no access to the other second-floor rooms. The frame section extended the
front passage and added another (southeastern) room, creating a central-passage, double-

pile plan.

The decoration throughout the house shows the characteristic Valley elaboration and
exaggeration of elements. In the northeast room, recessed-panel wainscot is carried
around the room.Symmetrically molded trim with bull's-eye paterae borders the door and
window openings. The rear window openings here were altered to closets when the mid-19th-
century addition was made. The mantel consists of coupled fluted colonnettes with turned
caps of no classical order supporting entablature blocks with applied-mold panels, framing
incised tulip designs, and a shelf, broken out over the blocks. The shelf is composed of
five levels of heavy moldings, each corbeled out beyond the one below. The tall frieze
is divided into two horizontal panels, with the upper one slightly taller than the lower,
each featuring a sinuous applied vine with stylized tulips in the center.

The passage is decorated with recessed-panel wainscoting similar to that in the
northeast room. The open-string stair has pierced sawn brackets, a paneled spandrel, and
two slender round balusters to a tread. The round banister, which is echoed on the wall,
is ramped and eased at the newels and is carried over the top of the lower newel, where it
ends in a large knob, The interior doors here and throughout the first floor are grained,
and an original iron lock survives on the rear door.

(See Continuation Sheet #1)-
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Miller-Kite House in Elkton is a particularly fine example of a substantial Shenan-
doah Valley plantation house of the early 19th century. Its handsome brickwork and
frontispiece doorway are outstanding features, as are its German-influenced interior
wocdwork and characteristic Valley plan. Built in 1827 for Henry Miller, Jr., a grand-
son or great-grandson of the earliest known European settler west of the Blue Ridge, the
house is one of the few in the area with which a specific craftsman's name--that of
Samuel Gibbons, its carpenter and joiner--is associated. In addition, it is traditionally
believed to have been the headguarters of General Thomas J. Jackson during the time that
the renowned Valley Campaign was planned.

Adam Miller, a Swiss, is believed to have settled along Elk Run near the present site
of Elkton early in the second guarter of the 18th century, and it is on a portion of his
original tract that the present house was built. The precise means through which Henry
Miller, Jr., acguired the tract is uncertain since the Rockingham County records were
seriously damaged by fire. He does, however, appaar for the first time in the county land
tax books in 1823, charged with 71% acres of land on Elk Run. Three years later, he was
charged with the ownership of 314% acres of land, with the notation "By George Baugher”.

On December 26 of that year (1826), Miller agreed with Samuel Gibbons of Rockingham County
"to do the joiners and carpenters work of a Brick House to be built on the place where the
said Henry Miller now lives, the House to be 42 feet long and 20 feet wide with an Ell of

18 ft. long by 16 feet wide, each to be two stories high with 27 windows fifteen lights each,
10 by 12, Nine Panel Doors, Waynscoat all the rooms downstairs, two stair case one open and
one boxed, and is to do all the joiners work necessary to be done such as floors, petitions,
chimney and closets and every thing necessary to complete said House ...." The contract is
a very precise description of the house that stands on the lot now. In its use of an
original ell, with a back stair serving the second floor ell room which had no communication
with the other second-floor chambers, Miller's new house adhered to the vernacular norm of
the antebellum Shenandoah Valley. In addition, the woodwork which Gibbons installed incor-
porated Germanic elements, notably the tulip-and-vine work of the mantels. That Gibbons,
who was not German, should use these elements is evidence of the strength of the Continental
aesthetic which was among the most lasting European contributions to the 19th-century
architecture of western Virginia. Miller's house also had brightly painted grained and
marbleized trim, as most contemporary houses in the area apparently did.

In 1829 the value of the buildings on Miller's land jumped to $1500, five times their
1826 value, reflecting the completion of his house., 1In 1843 John A. Argabright, Sr., pur-
chasegd the house from his father-in-law, and by 1848 he had added the frame addition which
increased his building valuation to $1700 in the tax records.

In April 1862, it is believed, Confederate General Thomas Jackson used the Miller-
Xite House as his headquarters. Moving south through the Valley, his dispatches were
dated "Conrad's Store (the small village which was renamed Elkton in the late 19th century),

{See Continuation Sheet #1)
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7. DESCRIPTION

In the northwest room the recessed-panel wainscoting of the previous rooms
is repeated. The mantel consists of symmetrically molded pilasters supporting
molded-panel entablature blocks. The frieze is divided horizontally into three
molded panels, each with fluted guadrant fans in the corners; the central panel
has a circular fluted patera while those flanking it have semicircular fluted
fans. The whole is surmounted by a sharply molded shelf broken over the blocks.

‘The ell room is decorated with a double-beaded chair board and a mantel con-
sisting of symmetrically molded pilasters again supporting entablature blocks.
These, however, have concentric panels, each slightly recessed from the one surround-
ing it. Again, a sharply molded shelf braken out over the entablature blocks is
fused. In the northeast corner is an undecorated L-plan stair enclosed above the

turn. “

The passage in the addition is undecorated, but it does have a small enclosed
stair in the southwest corner. A Greek Revival door with two vertical recessed
panels leads to the southeast room, The only decoration here is a Greek Revival
mantel with plain pilasters, entablature blocks, and frieze supporting an unmolded
shelf, Of note on the second floor is the surviving graining on the passage base-
board, as well as grey marbleizing on the treads of the attic stairs.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The register bounds approximate the property bounds of this small city lot.

8. SIGNIFICANCE

Jackson stayed in the area until April 30,

ear Swift Run Gap" beginning on April 20.
. e b : 3 From Conrad's

conferring in person and in writing with Johnston, Ewell and Lee.
Store Jackson moved a few miles farther south, engaging the northern army at the battles
of Port Republic and Cross Keys during the first week in May. Although direct documenta-
tion of his use of the Miller-Kite House during his stay at Conrad's Store is lacking,
the tradition of his having done so dates back at least to the 19th century.

John Argabright's widow and sons inherited the house and held it until 1871, when
it was sold to John Cover of Greene County for $1984. Cover conveyed it along with 100
acres of land years later to W. E. Kite for $5041.25. The Kite family still owns the
house. Although it is vacant, possibilities of returning it to active use are being
investigated.
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